
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Housing Select Committee 

Agenda 
 
Thursday, 12 March 2020 
7.30 pm,  
Civic Suite 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact: John Bardens (02083149976) 
 
This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio 
recorded and/or filmed. 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2020 

 
3 - 6 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

7 - 10 

3.   Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

4.   Lewisham Homes Annual Business Plan 2020/21 
 

11 - 28 

5.   Annual Lettings Plan 2020/21 
 

29 - 46 

6.   Homelessness in Lewisham and the impact of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
 

47 - 60 

7.   Select Committee work programme 
 

61 - 88 

8.   Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Housing Select Committee 
Members 

 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 12 March 2020.  
 
Kim Wright, Chief Executive 

Wednesday, 4 March 2020 
 
  

Councillor Peter Bernards (Chair)  

Councillor Stephen Penfold (Vice-
Chair) 

 

Councillor Tom Copley  

Councillor Aisling Gallagher  

Councillor Leo Gibbons  

Councillor Sue Hordijenko  

Councillor Silvana Kelleher  

Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa  

Councillor Susan Wise  

Councillor Bill Brown (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Sakina Sheikh (ex-Officio)  
  

   



 

 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE HOUSING SELECT 
COMMITTEE 

Thursday, 30 January 2020 at 7.30 pm 
 
 

PRESENT:  Councillors Peter Bernards (Chair), Stephen Penfold (Vice-Chair), 
Aisling Gallagher, Sue Hordijenko, Silvana Kelleher and Susan Wise.  
 
APOLOGIES: Councillors Tom Copley, Leo Gibbons, Olurotimi Ogunbadewa and 
Paul Bell. 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Kate Donovan (Area Manager, Pinnacle, RB3), Rachel Dunn (Housing 
Partnerships and Service Improvement Manager), Lee Georgiou (SGM Housing Needs 
and Refugee Services), Madeleine Jeffery (Director of Housing), Jon Kanareck 
(Lewisham Homes), Kevin Sheehan (Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment) and Sandra Simpson (Leasehold Manager, Pinnacle). 

 
1. Minutes of the meeting held on 16 December 2019 

 
Resolved: the minutes of the last meeting were agreed as a correct record of 
proceedings. 
 

2. Declarations of interest 
 
The following interests were declared: 

 Cllr Silvana Kelleher is a Lewisham Homes tenant. 

 Cllr Aisling Gallagher is a Lewisham Homes tenant. 

 Cllr Susan Wise is a Lewisham Homes Director. 
 

3. Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 
There were none. 
 

4. Resident engagement in housing development - recommendations 
 
John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, introduced the report to the Committee. The 

following key points were noted during the discussion. 

4.1 The Chair tabled a list of draft comments and recommendations. This will be 

included in the agenda documentation pack. 

4.2 The committee noted that it can make recommendations to the Council and 

Lewisham Homes but that its influence over other housing developers in the 

borough is unfortunately more limited.  

4.3 The committee agreed to give preference in the report and recommendations 

to the term “seldom heard”, rather than “hard to reach”, to be more in-line 

with current terminology.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 

 
 
 

2 

4.4 The committee noted that while Lewisham Homes appear to be doing well, 

there is always room for improvement, and stressed the importance of being 

flexible.   

4.5 One committee member noted that if residents have had a bad experience 

with one part of the council they are less likely to engage positively with 

another part and queried whether general training on resident engagement 

for other departments could be worthwhile in order to better understand what 

experiences lead people to becoming “hard to reach” or “seldom heard”. 

4.6 The committee expressed an interested in carrying out further work on how 

other housing associations in the borough carry out resident engagement.  

4.7 The committee agreed to invite other key housing associations in the 

borough, and their local resident groups, to a future meeting to discuss their 

approach to resident engagement on development. 

4.8 The committee noted the key role of the Housing Officer in resident 

engagement and the importance of housing officers having the time to build 

stronger relationships and understand their residents.  

 
Resolved: 
 
4.9 That the tabled recommendations as discussed and amended be agreed and 

referred to Mayor and Cabinet. 

 

4.10 That the committee writes to the relevant housing associations in the 

borough to invite them to discuss their approach to resident engagement in 

housing development. 

 
5. Overcrowding 

 
Lee Georgiou (SGM Housing Needs and Refugee Services) introduced the report. 
There was a discussion and the following key points were noted: 

5.1 The officer report set out the extent of overcrowding in London and 
Lewisham; the difference definitions of overcrowding; and the action taken in 
Lewisham to address overcrowding. 

5.2 London has the highest rate of overcrowding in the country – around one in 
ten of all households. There are more than 9,300 households on the housing 
register in Lewisham. 4,500 of these are overcrowded by 1 bedroom – the 
single largest reason for households on the register. More than 500 are 
overcrowded by two bedrooms or more.  

5.3 Accessing private rented accommodation for larger households who rely on 
benefits is extremely challenging because local housing allowance can only 
be claimed for a maximum of a four bedroom property. 

5.4 Lewisham’s allocations scheme gives reasonable preference to households 
living in overcrowded conditions. Households lacking two bedrooms or more 
are placed in band 1. Those lacking one bedroom are placed in band 2. 

Page 4



 

 
 
 

3 

Lewisham uses the bedroom standard for assessing overcrowding, which is 
more generous than the statutory definition. 

5.5 One committee member noted that every London local authority uses the 
bedroom standard for assessing overcrowding, but that around half also use 
statutory overcrowding as an additional measure because they recognise it 
as a potential public health issue. 

5.6 It was noted that some of the local authorities that use a combination of the 
statutory definition and the bedroom standard have removed the category of 
overcrowded by one bedroom and focussed on the most extreme cases. 

5.7 It was noted that there are a large number of overcrowded households on the 
housing register that have not recently bid for a property and may need some 
extra support. The committee suggested that a time limit should be set to 
raise a concern and provide support for those that have not bid. 

5.8 The committee advised against asking people to re-register for the new 
allocations IT system if they have been inactive for a long time, and 
expressed concern for those on the list who do not use computers, for whom 
English isn’t their first language, and those who can’t read or write. 

5.9 The committee acknowledged that one of the most significant issues with 
severe overcrowding is the lack of larger, 4/5 bedroom homes, but noted the 
importance of having statutory overcrowding as an extra measure given the 
potential impact on public health.  

5.10 The committee noted that home swaps and similar alternative options for 
households on the housing register were not featured on the council’s 
choice-based-letting’s portal, Lewisham Homesearch. 

5.11 The committee noted that the Homesearch portal was the main place that 
households on the housing register would visit to find housing and suggested 
that it would be a good place to make people aware of all their options, 
including the possibility of home swaps and similar. 

5.12 The committee noted the suggestion to carry out a review of Lewisham 
Homesearch as part of the committee’s work programme for the next 
municipal year. 

Resolved: that the committee refer its views to Mayor and Cabinet in the following 
terms: 
 
Given the additional pressures on households of living in statutorily overcrowded 
conditions, the committee recommends that Mayor and Cabinet agrees, in 
principle, to the Council adopting the statutory definition of overcrowding as an 
additional measure of overcrowding within its Housing Allocation Scheme, subject 
to an assessment of the potential costs, procedural issues and impact on other 
priority groups on the housing list. The committee asks Mayor and Cabinet to 
assess the impact of such a change and report back to the Housing Select 
Committee in 6 months’ time.    

 
 
 
 

Page 5



 

 
 
 

4 

6. Rent and service charge increases 
 
Rachel Dunn (Housing Partnerships and Service Improvement Manager) 
introduced the report. The following key points were noted: 

6.1 Rent increases will be covered by housing benefit and universal credit. 

6.2 The committee noted that there was a significant difference between heating 
and hot water charges for Lewisham Homes and RB3. Officers noted that 
Lewisham Homes has higher overheads and a different range and slightly 
older stock of buildings with different consumption rates.  

6.3 The committee the concerns of RB3 residents about the lack of attendance by 
council officers at resident meetings. Council officers do not regularly attend 
RB3 resident meetings as these are a forum between residents and RB3 as 
the provider of landlord services.  

6.4 Officers from Pinnacle (RB3) explained that universal credit is a significant 
issue for them, representing 39% of arrears cases, and that it is having 
difficulty attaining “trusted partner” status to access a universal credit portal.  

6.5 There is a repairs modernisation process soon to launch at Lewisham Homes 
to provide greater efficiency for the council and better transparency for 
residents. Improvements are expected over the next 12 to 18 months. The 
committee asked to see the satisfaction results when they are available.  

Resolved: the committee noted the report. 
 

7. New homes programme (information only) 
 
Resolved: the committee noted the report. 
 

8. Select Committee work programme 
 
Resolved: the committee agreed the work programme. 
 

9. Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 
Resolved: the committee agreed to refer its views on items 4 and 5 to Mayor and 
Cabinet as detailed in the minutes above.  
 
 
The meeting ended at 9.15 pm 
 
 
Chair:  
 ---------------------------------------------------- 
 
Date: 
 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 6



 

 

Housing Select Committee 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. Members must declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. There 
are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code of 
Conduct: 

(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 

(2)  Other registerable interests 

(3)  Non-registerable interests. 

1.2. Further information on these is provided in the body of this report. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1. Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 

Declarations of Interest 

Date: 12 March 2020 

Key decision: No  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Chief Executive (Director of Law) 

Outline and recommendations 

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



  

3. Disclosable pecuniary interests  

3.1 These are defined by regulation as: 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain 

(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the 
Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in 
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards 
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade 
Union). 

(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a 
partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works. 

(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 

(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 

(f)   Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which 
they have a beneficial interest.   

(g)   Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 

(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and  

(b)  either: 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* 
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of 
that class. 

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person 
with whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

4. Other registerable interests 

4.1 The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the following 
interests: 

(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you were 
appointed or nominated by the Council 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or 
policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 
value of at least £25. 

Page 8



  

5. Non registerable interests 

5.1. Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not required 
to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a matter concerning 
the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

6. Declaration and impact of interest on members’ participation 

6.1. Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are present at a 
meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must declare the nature of the 
interest at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered. The 
declaration will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and 
withdraw from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or participation where 
such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of 
up to £5000  
 

6.2. Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the meeting at the earliest 
opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the 
room, participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph 6.3 
below applies. 

6.3. Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member of the public in 
possession of the facts would think that their interest is so significant that it would be 
likely to impair the member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the 
outcome improperly. 

6.4. If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, their, 
family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the local area 
generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply 
as if it were a registerable interest.   

6.5. Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal judgement, 
though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

7. Sensitive information  

7.1. There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

8.  Exempt categories 

8.1. There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in decisions 
notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. These include:- 

(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter relates 
to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 

(b)  School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent or 

Page 9



  

guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the matter 
relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are a 
governor 

(c)   Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 

(d)   Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  

(e)  Ceremonial honours for members 

(f)   Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception). 

9. Report author and contact 

9.1. Kath Nicholson, Director of Law, Kath.Nicholson@lewisham.gov.uk, 0208 31 47648 

Page 10

mailto:Kath.Nicholson@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 

Housing Select Committee 

 

 

Lewisham Homes Annual Business Plan 2020/21 

Date: 12 March 2020 

Key decision: Yes 

Class: Part 1 

Ward(s) affected: Borough-wide 

Contributors: Margaret Dodwell, Chief Executive Officer, Lewisham Homes 

  Jon Kanareck, Director of Resident Services, Lewisham Homes 

  Samuel Whitwell, Head of Performance and Programmes, Lewisham Homes 

Outline and recommendations 

This report introduces Lewisham Homes’ Annual Business Plan for 2020/21 which has been 
structured around delivery of the Corporate Plan 2019/22.  

Recommendation: Committee approves the business plan and recommends to Mayor and 
Cabinet for approval  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

Annual Business Plan approved by Lewisham Homes’ Executive Leadership Team, January 
2020 

Annual Business Plan approved by Lewisham Homes’ Board, January 2020 

1. Summary 

1.1. The report gives background to the development of Lewisham Homes’ Annual 
Business Plan for 2020/21, and the key information and implications. 

1.2. The business plan sets out an ambitious programme of objectives that Lewisham 
Homes will commit to deliver in 2020/21, and is aligned to the Corporate Strategy of 
Lewisham Council. The full business plan is attached as an appendix to this report. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. It is recommend that committee approve the business plan for 2020/21 and 
recommends this to Mayor and Cabinet for approval. 

3. Policy Context 

3.1. The Business Plan 2020/21 supports the delivery of the Lewisham Homes Corporate 
Plan, 2019-2020, which was developed in collaboration with Lewisham Council. 

3.2. The Business Plan also supports the aims and objectives of Lewisham Council and 
aligns with key priorities in Lewisham’s Corporate Strategy, notably on: 

 Tackling the housing crisis; 

 Building an inclusive local economy; 

 Making Lewisham greener; 

 Building safer communities. 

3.3. The plan continues Lewisham Homes’ commitment to the council corporate strategy 
objective of building new homes for social rent. 

4. Background  

4.1. This report is being brought to Housing Select Committee, and Mayor and Cabinet, in 
line with the business planning requirements in the management agreement between 
Lewisham Council and Lewisham Homes. 

4.2. Lewisham Homes consulted widely on setting the Corporate Plan 2019-22. This 
commenced with significant contributions from Lewisham Homes’ staff and the basis 
for consultation was approved by the Board. Open workshops were held to seek the 

Page 12

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

views of residents. Lewisham Homes sought the views of the Mayor of Lewisham, local 
MPs and the Housing Select Committee and Cabinet Member for Housing. 

4.3. Consultation on the content of this year’s business plan has been with staff and 
Council Officers. Lewisham Homes’ board were consulted on the emergent themes at 
their Away Day in September 2019. Business plan actions will form part of team plans 
and be included in individual objectives, so all staff are aware of the plans and their 
role in delivery. 

5. Lewisham Homes Annual Business Plan 2020/21 

5.1.  The proposed business plan is appended and consists of the following sections: 

 Context and background 

 Objectives for 2020/21 

 KPIs and targets for 2020/21 

 Finances 

5.2. The objectives have been developed over the last few months in line with the three 
year Corporate Plan objectives, and are grouped by the five ‘ambitions’: Landlord, 
Placemaker, Employer, Partner, and Enterprise. 

5.3. This business plan is closely aligned to and supports the delivery of one of the strands 
of our Corporate Plan, and each task has been allocated a directorate lead with a 
target date for delivery.  

5.4. There are 23 KPIs included in the 2020/21 business plan, reduced from 68 in the 
2019/20 business plan. However, all 68 currently reported indicators will continue to be 
measured and monitored by Lewisham Homes’ executive team and board as part of 
directorate plans and compliance monitoring.  

5.5. The KPI table in section 3 of the plan includes the current year-to-date performance, 
and the targets that have been set for the next three years. Where the KPI measure is 
benchmarked by Housemark, an indication has been given of the upper quartile 
performance of Lewisham Homes peer group (where available). 

5.6. Satisfaction has risen year on year for both tenants and leaseholders and the 
performance targets have been increased to reflect this in the plan. 

5.7. The business plan has been reviewed by the Lewisham Homes board and approved 
prior to being introduced to the Council. 

6. Financial implications  

6.1. Lewisham Homes’ budget is designed to cover all the business as usual functions. It 
also includes a number of improvements and developments which will become 
business as usual.  

6.2. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

7. Legal implications 

7.1. The report sets out how the requirements of the management agreement have been 
complied with. 

7.2. There are no direct legal implications beyond this. 

8. Equalities implications 

8.1. The business plan covers the implementation of Lewisham Homes’ ‘Equality, Diversity 

Page 13

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

and Inclusion’ strategy. 

9. Climate change and environmental implications 

9.1. Several tasks within the business plan actively support Lewisham Council’s aim of 
becoming carbon neutral by 2030. 

10. Crime and disorder implications 

10.1. None specific to this report. 

11. Health and wellbeing implications  

11.1. Several tasks within the business plan actively and positively address the health, safety 
and wellbeing of Lewisham Homes’ staff. 

12. Background papers 

12.1. None. 

13. Glossary  

13.1. The following terms are referenced in this report, or in the attached appendix. 

Term Definition 

Corporate Plan 
The current three-year plan of objectives for Lewisham 
Homes, begun in April 2019. 

Annual Business Plan 

The agreed set of objectives that Lewisham Homes plans to 
deliver in a given year. The Annual Business Plan attached to 
this report is for the financial year beginning April 2020, and 
ending March 2021. 

KPI 
‘Key Performance Indicator’. A measurement taken of a 
specific element of business performance. A KPI usually has a 
target that performance can be tracked against. 

ELT 
‘Executive Leadership Team’. The Chief Executive and 
Directors of Lewisham Homes. 

LBL ‘London Borough of Lewisham’ 

ASB ‘Anti-Social Behaviour’ 

ICT 
‘Information and Communications Technology’. In the context 
of this report, ICT refers to the Lewisham Homes team 
concerned with IT support and infrastructure. 

Hackitt Report 
The government’s independent review of building regulations 
and fire safety, commissioned following the Grenfell Tower 
fire. 

FOI 
‘Freedom of Information’. In the context of this report, this 
refers to the Freedom of Information Act that requires us to 
supply certain information when requested. 

Page 14

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

14. Report author and contact 

14.1. If you have any queries in relation to this report please contact Rachel Dunn at the 
following address Rachel.Dunn@Lewisham.gov.uk 

Page 15

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:Rachel.Dunn@Lewisham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

P
age 17



2L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

C O N T E N T S
1. PART ONE: THE CONTEXT
2. PART TWO: OUR OBJECTIVES 
3. PART THREE: OUR KPIS
4. PART FOUR: OUR FINANCES

P
age 18



3L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

PART ONE: THE CONTEXT
It is an exciting time as we launch our Annual 
Business Plan for 2020/21. There is a huge 
amount we aim to achieve, both for our 
residents and our staff as we continue to deliver 
our three year Corporate Plan, “Building our 
Future”. We remain fully committed to working 
in partnership with Lewisham Council to deliver 
high quality housing services and to building 
new homes for social rent in the borough in 
furtherance of the number one political priority 
of the Mayor.

Keeping our buildings safe for all remains our 
top priority, but this year we also want to focus 
on the quality and consistency of the customer 
experience. We recognise we need to make it 
easier for customers to deal with us and we’ll 
be working on that throughout the year. We’re 
aiming for an increasingly effortless experience 
and in this year’s plan we will be introducing 
new service standards to help us achieve this.

We also want to improve our offer for staff, from 
modernising our office and workspaces, to 
a renewed approach to reward and recognition, 
and empowering staff to deliver for 
our residents.

We will be kicking off a significant project, with 
Board and Lewisham Council, to define our 
future IT needs; these will inevitably need to 
reflect new access channels for customers, our 
need as employees to work in more agile ways 
and the enhanced record keeping requirements 
required following the Grenfell enquiry and 
Hackitt report.

In 2019 the Oxford English Dictionary chose 
‘Climate Emergency’ as its word of the year. 
Lewisham Council declared a climate emergency 
in 2019 and this year we want to ensure that 
climate and sustainability are an integral part of 
what we do. We will be working closely with our 
partners to ensure we are playing a key part in 
Lewisham becoming carbon neutral by 2030. 
Informed by our new stock condition survey, we 
will be looking afresh at how we invest in and 
maintain our homes as well as the way we all work 
on a day-to-day basis to do this more sustainably.

The second year of the plan aims to build on 
the work undertaken in 2019/20, deliver key 
objectives, and lay the groundwork for further 
tasks that will be delivered in year three. As 
with last year, our Business Plan is focussed on 
delivering our vision and mission and is organised 
around our five key ambitions. 

Our “Pyramid of Purpose”, below, indicates the 
structure that Lewisham Homes has in place to 
support and ensure delivery of our Vision and 
Mission. The Annual Business Plan is illustrated 
by the third layer, and includes the key tasks 
and KPIs. It is supported by directorate and 
team plans, and all staff will have objectives and 
performance targets focussed on delivering these 
plans. Our performance against this plan will be 
regularly monitored by the Board and reported to 
the Council.

Vision &
Mission  

Corporate Plan

Annual Business Plans: 
Key Tasks and KPIs 

Annual Directorate Plan 
Annual Health & Safety Plan 

Team Plans
(where required)

Individual and Team Objectives Linked to Tasks and Competency Framework

Our suite of corporate Strategies play a key role 
in supporting and directing the delivery of our 
plan. We have already put in place our strategies 
for Customer Experience; People; Community 
Engagement; Value for Money; Asset Management; 
and our Medium-Term Financial Strategy. By the 
end of 2019/20 we will have also put in place our 
Health, Safety and Wellbeing Strategy, and our 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy. In 2020/21 
we will deliver our strategies for: ICT; Sustainability; 
and Social Value.

P
age 19



4L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

PART TWO: OUR OBJECTIVES

P
age 20



5L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

PART TWO: OUR OBJECTIVES

P
age 21



6L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

PART TWO: OUR OBJECTIVES

P
age 22



7L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

PART TWO: OUR OBJECTIVES

P
age 23



8L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

PART TWO: OUR OBJECTIVES

P
age 24



9L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

PART THREE: OUR KPIs

P
age 25



1 0L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

NOTES ON KPIS:
The ‘Current Actual’ column gives the latest 
available performance figures up to December 
2019. This will be updated to show the 2019/20 
outturn figure once the final plan is published.

The ‘Peer Group Benchmark’ is the reported 
upper quartile figure from our Housemark 
peer group, to give an indication of how similar 
organisations are performing against each 
KPI. Where this column is blank, a benchmark 
was not available from our peer group. The 
peer group consists of 21 London-based local 
authorities, ALMOs, and Housing Associations 
with between 5,000 and 25,000 properties.

Several of the KPIs are new measures for this 
year. These have been introduced following 
comments from both Board and Performance 
Committee on areas where greater visibility 
would be desirable, such as more detail on 
the Repairs Service, on Voids, and also on staff 
sickness where we will be reporting separately 
on office-based and field-based sickness.

Targets have been set for the next three years. 
Where some of the KPIs are new, there will be a 
further benchmarking exercise to establish firm 
definitions and industry best practice before these 
targets are populated. On staff sickness, we have 
set the target at 8.5 days. This is our Housemark 
peer group median. There is some concern there 
may currently be under-reporting of sickness, 
so we will be reviewing both office-based and 
field-based staff sickness after the first quarter of 
2020/21 and reviewing the targets accordingly.

Repairs completed at first visit, and major 
voids are new measures. We will develop a 
methodology in the first quarter of 2020/21 to 
calculate appropriate targets for these indicators, 
and will start reporting this in the second quarter 
of 2020/21.

P
age 26



1 1L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

PART FOUR: OUR FINANCES 

P
age 27



1 2L E W I S H A M  H O M E S   /  A N N UA L  BU S I N E S S  P L A N  2 0 2 0 - 2 1

P
age 28



 

KEY DECISION 

 

 

Housing Select Committee  

 

Report title: Annual Lettings Plan 2020/21 

Date: 12th March 2020 

Key decision: Yes 

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Director for Housing Services 

 

This report presents Housing Select Committee members with a copy of the report due to 
be considered by Mayor & Cabinet on 25th March 2020, entitled Annual Lettings Plan 
20/21. 

Officers recommend that Housing Select Committee Members: 

 Note the content of the report; and 

 Provide comments on the report, to be tabled at the Mayor & Cabinet meeting on 
the 25th March 2020. 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

This report will be discussed at Housing Select Committee on the 12th March 2020 
before being considered at Mayor & Cabinet on the 25th March 2020. 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. The Annual Lettings Plan (ALP) sets out how the Council will allocate the properties 
that become available for let in 2020/21. 

1.2. This includes properties that become available from council stock and those of other 
providers where the Council has nomination rights. 

1.3. The report also presents the final lettings outcomes for 2018/19 and the position for the 
first nine months of 2019/20 (1st April ’19 to 31st December ‘19).  It also shows the 
current demand for social housing from the housing register.  

1.4. The number of lets available has been decreasing in recent years. Between 2014/15 
and 2018/19 the number of available re-lets decreased by 6%. 

1.5. It is expected that this decrease in available re-lets will continue. Projections indicate 
that 860 properties will be available for let in 2020/21.  

1.6. The ALP distributes available lets to those in most need. The primary focus of the plan 
is to: 

 reduce the number of households in unsuitable and costly temporary accommodation;  

 reduce under occupation and severe overcrowding;  

 support move-on for single vulnerable households on from supported accommodation 
to independence and; 

 support the regeneration of certain housing estates. 

1.7. Demand for homelessness assistance has remained high in recent years.  Lewisham 
Council have accepted an average of 700 households as homeless every year since 
2014/15.  This, combined with a lack of supply, has led to an increasing numbers of 
households in Temporary Accommodation (TA) each year.  Since 2010/11 the number 
of households in TA has more than doubled. 

1.8. An offer of a social let is currently the primary route out of TA for most households. The 
proposed ALP allocates a large number of lettings to homeless households to help to 
manage the continued high level of homelessness. 

1.9. The proposed ALP for 2020/21 contains no policy changes nor substantive changes to 
the approach taken in previous plans. 

Page 30

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

2. Recommendations 

Mayor and Cabinet is recommended to: 

2.1. Note the lettings outcomes for 2018/19 and 2019/20 to date. 

2.2. Approve the proposed Lettings Plan for 2020/21 set out in Appendix 1 of this report. 

3. Policy Context 

3.1. The contents of this report are consistent with the Council’s policy framework. It 
supports the achievements of the Corporate Strategy objectives: 

3.2. Tackling the housing crisis – Everyone has a decent home that is secure and 
affordable 

3.3. Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has access to an 
outstanding and inspiring education and is given the support they need to keep them 
safe, well and able to achieve their full potential. 

3.4. This report is also aligned with the council’s allocation scheme, which allows for an 
ALP to be agreed on an annual basis to determine how best to allocate available stock.  

4. Background  

4.1. Social housing provides a quality, affordable home that allows households to prosper. 
Unfortunately, for many years demand has outstripped the supply of social housing. 
Determining how best to allocate this scarce resource to those in housing need is a 
substantial challenge. 

4.2. Housing Allocations schemes are governed by legislation which requires housing 
authorities to determine and publish a lettings scheme, setting out how it will prioritise 
applications for social housing. It is a requirement that certain groups are given 
“reasonable preference” within the policy.  These groups are: 

 People who are homeless 

 Those living in unsatisfactory housing, e.g. overcrowded or lacking amenities 

 Those who need to move on medical grounds 

 Those who need to move to a particular locality within the district where it would 
cause hardship if they were unable to do so 

 Those owed a duty under other relevant legislation such as a prohibition order 
on a property. 

4.3. Allocation policies must give preference to these groups above others.  There is no 
requirement to give an equal weighting to all of the reasonable preference categories.  

4.4. The ALP allows the Council to outline the number of properties that are expected to 
become available in the year and how it will distribute these amongst the groups 
mentioned above, and others on the Housing Register. 

4.5. Five priority areas have been identified for the plan, as listed below in no particular 
order: 

 Homeless households in TA. This is amongst the worst and least secure form 
of housing, particularly nightly paid and shared B&B accommodation. The ALP 
allocates a large number of properties to these households to support them in 
finding stable accommodation and providing opportunities to thrive.  

 Households who are overcrowded by 2 bedrooms or more. Living in 
overcrowded conditions has a negative impact on health and wellbeing. 

Page 31

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Reducing overcrowding is a key local and national priority. 

 Under-occupation. By supporting households to move out of accommodation 
that is larger than they need, other households in housing need have the 
opportunity to occupy the property that is vacated. This also helps mitigate the 
impact of the bedroom tax where it applies. 

 Move-on from supported housing schemes. Moving vulnerable households into 
independent homes when ready frees up much needed supported housing. 
These bed spaces can then be allocated to those with support needs waiting for 
accommodation. 

 Decants. These are crucial in enabling the Council and partners to move 
households out of properties at regeneration sites, supporting the delivery of 
new homes across Lewisham. 

4.6. The ALP for 18/19 projected that 1,208 properties would become available to let. The 
final number of lets for 18/19 was 1,150, of which 187 were new build properties.  The 
slight shortfall is largely due to a number of anticipated new build schemes not 
completing in 18/19.  

4.7. Lewisham continues to actively participate in ‘Housing Moves’, a pan-London mobility 
scheme launched by the Mayor of London in May 2012.  Lewisham contributes a 
number of properties per year to this scheme, always ensuring that the quota is met. 

4.8. Properties offered up by Lewisham as part of the Housing Moves scheme are matched 
by other authorities meaning no loss of available lettings to Lewisham applicants. The 
scheme prioritises household moves for those needing to move elsewhere for work, 
and under-occupiers. 

5. Lettings Outcomes for previous years 

5.1. A summary of the main outturn results in lettings is shown below.  Full details for 18/19 
and 19/20 to date are provided in Appendices 2 & 3. 

 2014/15 2015/16  
 

2016/17  2017/18  2018/19 2019/20 
Projected 

General 
needs 
lets 

996 1172 865 994 1015 788* 

Special 
lets  

152 95 94 72 135 105* 

Housing 
moves 

10 12 11 12 4 12** 

Total lets 1,158 1,279 970 1,078 1,154 905 
 

*Not including properties that are approved to let 

**Projected housing moves total provided as the amount has yet to be confirmed by the 
GLA 

5.2. Over the long-term, the number of lets available has been decreasing. The projected 
outturn for 2019/20 is 893. This is 7% below the previous year and represents almost 
950 fewer units than were available in 2011/12. This presents significant difficulties for 
the service as demand for social housing remains high. 

5.3. Fewer lets were made to decants in 2019/20 than were proposed in the ALP. This 
reflects delays in some new build schemes meaning decant programmes have not 
been accelerated as had originally been expected. The below table outlines the 

Page 32

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

number of lets to decant households in 2019/20 to date. 

5.4. Decant moves in 2019/20 to date  

Scheme Households 
moved via CBL 

Direct matched  

Excalibur 0 1 

Milford Towers 4 0 

Deptford 2 0 

Individual decants N/A N/A 

Total 6 1 

 

5.5. Detail of waiting times for successful lettings is shown at Appendix 4 and 5. The below 
table shows the average time on the housing register for successful applicants over the 
last five years. 

5.6. The below table shows the average time on the housing register for successful 
applicants. 

Average Time on Housing Register 
(weeks) 

Band 
 

Financial Year 1 2 3 Grand 
Total 

14/15 214 49 104 113 

15/16 175 60 101 103 

16/17 143 61 119 108 

17/18 85 66 126 103 

18/19 118 75 127 111 

19/20 (Apr – Dec 2019) 106 60 147 110 

Grand Total 148 62 117 108 

 

5.7. Whilst the average length of time for successful applicants has remained stable, many 
households remain on the housing register for a considerable length of time before a 
property becomes available to them. 

5.8. The sheer scale of demand and desirability of a social home means that unless there is 
a structural shift in supply, there will always be a large number of bids per available 
property.   

5.9. This is particularly the case with family sized properties between 2 and 4 beds. 
Demand on the housing register for 2 and 3 beds in particular is high, meaning a 
substantial number of bids may be expected for any available let. 

5.10. Over 93,000 bids were made by 6,600 households on the Housing Register during 
2018/19, slightly higher than the number made in 2017/18. In 2019/20 to date over 
3,600 households have made almost 66,000 bids. 

5.11. The below table shows the average number of bids per advertised property. 

Page 33

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Number of Bedrooms 17/18 18/19  19/20 to date 

Studio 13.5 5.6 5.7 

1 Bed 24.4 12.0 16.1 

2 Bed 175.6 112.6 138.6 

3 Bed 240.1 165.9 193.9 

4 Bed+ 158.6 70.9 157.1 

 

5.12. The number of bids for some desirable properties is particularly high, with 321 of the 
properties advertised in the year to date receiving over 100 bids and 10 properties 
receiving more than 500 bids. 

5.13. There are currently just over 9,500 households on the Housing Register, of which 
8,776 households have been on for over 6 months. Almost 4000 households that are 
active have made a bid within the past 6 months. 

5.14. Based on current projections, and with no additional applications to the housing 
register, it would take over ten years for all applicants on the register to receive a 
property. 

5.15. The Allocations team continue to work closely with Homesearch partners to ensure that 
records are up to date. A data cleansing exercise is being undertaken to support this, 
which will ensure the Housing Register is an accurate reflection of those still in housing 
need in Lewisham. 

5.16. This exercise has resulted in a decrease in the number on the Housing Register up to 
June 2019. The number of households on the register has begun to increase again 
following the end of this exercise. 

6. Proposed Plan for 2020/21 

6.1. The Lettings Plan proposed is set out at Appendix 1. It projects a decrease in the 
number of relets expected to become available in 2020/21 based on the trend across 
recent years. This is offset by the continued delivery of new builds by the Council and 
Registered Providers. It is anticipated that a total of 860 properties will be available for 
let during the course of the year. 

6.2. There were 2,370 households in temporary accommodation at the end of December 
2019, an increase of 84% compared to March 2013 and a 12% increase on the number 
of households in temporary accommodation at the end of December 2018. 

6.3. To reduce the number of households in TA it is proposed that a large number of 2 and 
3 bed properties are allocated to this group. It should be noted that the continued high 
percentage of lettings to households in the homeless priority group will impact on the 
number of lettings available to the other four priority groups.  

6.4. The below table identifies the anticipated decant need based on all current projects. By 
allocating a number of properties to this group each year the decant team are able to 
facilitate the full decant required on sites in the required timeframe. The ALP allocates 
a number of properties to this group in 2020/21 to ensure that there is opportunity to 
move for those who require it. 

Page 34

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

6.5. The below table shows the decant need broken down by the schemes in progress. 

Scheme  1 Bed  2 Bed 3 Bed 4+ Bed  Total 

Excalibur Phase 4  0 15 1 0 16 

Excalibur Phase 5 0 15 2 2 19 

Milford Towers  13 0 0 0 13 

Deptford  0 7 1 0 8 

Other potential regen 
schemes 10 25 10 5 

 

50 

Total 23 62 14 7 106 

 

6.6. The remaining lets have been targeted to the other priority bands to ensure that 
rehousing opportunities are allocated to those in the highest need. Although all groups 
will have access to many of the properties on the register, it is proposed to allocate a 
number to specific cohorts based on the priorities outlined earlier. 

6.7. An exercise has been completed by Trading Places team to ensure that the housing 
register is more reflective of actual need. This closed historic cases where no bid had 
been made in the last three years.  As a result there are now 362 active households 
registered in band 1 as under occupiers, a decrease of 404 from last year. 

6.8. The Trading Places officer works with this cohort to support those affected by the spare 
room subsidy alongside those who are under-occupying but not impacted by welfare 
reform. This remains a key priority as it mitigates the impact of government policy in 
households, whilst maximising the effective use of available stock. The table below 
shows the number of properties released via the Trading Places programme in 19/20 
and the size of the property they moved to. Of the 40 who moved below, 16 were 
affected by the bedroom tax and as a consequence of this move are no longer at high 
risk of eviction. 

6.9. The below table details moves made by the trading places team in 2019/20  

 Bed size moved to Total Moves 

Bed Size  released 1 2 3 4+  

2 14    14 

3 6 

14 (5 of 
which are 
waiting to 
move into 
new 
builds) 

0 0 20 

Page 35

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

4+ 0 3 3 0 6 

Total  6 0 0 40  

 

6.10. The team has also facilitated a series of chain lettings, promoting churn within the 
stock by supporting transferring households to move who thus vacate a property that 
can be utilised elsewhere. 11 of the chain lettings enabled freed up larger sized 
properties that have been advertised to overcrowded tenants, ensuring that the needs 
of the original household moving and the overcrowded tenants that are successful in 
bid are both met, as well as the needs of whoever then occupies the additional 
property vacated. 

6.11. Trading Places continue to work with Housing Benefit colleagues and Registered 
Providers to maximise the use of Discretionary Housing Payment. 106 tenants are 
currently being supported to move, of which 49 are affected by the bedroom tax. 
Officers will continue to assist this cohort with the continued, intensive support required 
to help them move into more appropriate accommodation.  

6.12. A pilot was implemented on two new build developments. This allocated a number of 
properties to social tenants seeking to transfer, and allocating every subsequent let to 
transferring tenants. The aim of the pilot is to enable greater churn within the housing 
stock. 

6.13. 32 properties were let as per the above pilot with moves into the properties 
commencing from May 2019. As at the end of November 2019 the approach had 
resulted in 49 properties being let. This was a combination of the new builds, or the 
properties that had been vacated by existing social tenants moving into the new builds. 
A further 10 properties were ready to be advertised which may also deliver further lets 
as part of the chain approach. 

6.14. The impact of this approach is still being assessed, and once all the evidence is 
available will be analysed in detail to understand whether this might apply on a broader 
scale. 

6.15. There are currently 103 cases registered with a decant need.  The council’s major 
regeneration scheme at Heathside & Lethbridge is nearly complete with no ongoing 
decant requirement.  Work at Excalibur and Milford Towers is ongoing. These will 
require a number of homes to be made available to these households to support the 
continued regeneration of these areas.  The development at the Deptford Southern 
Sites is also due to commence soon and provision will be made to facilitate this. 

6.16. Move on within the supported housing pathway remains a core priority for Lewisham’s 
single homeless intervention team and the supported housing providers. The 
supported housing move-on nominations are an integral part of the move on from the 
pathway and in preventing homeless applications within the single homeless cohort. 
They also enable the council and partners to manage the flow of people through the 
supported housing pathway. These properties are currently the only form of move on 
from the Supported Housing Pathway, of which there are currently over 900 units of 
commissioned accommodation. 

6.17. Nominations are being used to support quicker hospital discharge and better health 
outcomes for those within the mental health supported housing cohort. This facilitates a 
reduction in the number using expensive registered care placements and helps to 
create churn in these schemes. This is being project managed by the Mental Health 
Trust in collaboration with Housing. 

6.18. The use of supported housing pathways and initiatives such as housing first, forms a 

Page 36

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

key part of the Councils efforts to address the rising number of rough sleepers in the 
borough. 

6.19. Following analysis of supply and demand within the Young Persons Pathway, the 
Commissioning team have transferred over ten units to the Young Persons Pathway. 

6.20. Care leavers that are placed in the pathway are now also coming under the Supported 
Housing Move On quota to ensure equitable move on options for all supported housing 
clients and reduce the administrative burden on Personal Assistants within Children’s 
Services.     

6.21. There were 146 lets to supported housing move on cases in 2018/19, and there are 
currently 91 supported housing move on clients on the Housing Register. 

6.22. 539 households that were on the housing register as at the end of December 2019 lack 
two or more bedrooms, a slight increase from December 2018 where there were 531 
such households on the register. 

6.23. 51 seriously overcrowded households moved between April 2019 and December 2019 
representing an increase on the same period in 2018/19. A total of 65 seriously 
overcrowded properties moved in 2018/19. Targets will continue to be set for this group 
in 2020/21 as it remains a priority area.  Trading Places are continuing to facilitate 
chain lets; three bedroom properties released via the scheme are advertised with 
preference to overcrowded households. 

6.24. The GLA have not yet provided detail on the number of properties that Lewisham will 
be expected to contribute for the Housing Moves programme in 2020/21. 

6.25. The production of a detailed Lettings Plan, targeting a range of priorities in each band 
is a more proactive and focused way of addressing lettings priorities. A half year review 
of progress against the lettings plan targets will be undertaken and will be reported 
back to the Housing Select Committee and Mayor & Cabinet.   

 

7. Financial implications  

7.1. There are significant costs associated with housing generally, including managing the 
allocations service, managing the provision of council housing and providing services 
to those experiencing homelessness or the threat of homelessness. All of these are 
affected over time by the demand for housing. The lettings plan is merely the means by 
which that demand is allocated to existing properties. As such, changes to the plan do 
not have direct financial implications. 

7.2. The Council is currently working on plans to deliver the Mayor’s new 1,000 social 
homes target and completing its regeneration schemes at Heathside & Lethbridge and 
Excalibur estates.  It is worth noting, however, that the Council’s financial plans in 
respect of these schemes are dependent on the timely and effective operation of 
decant programmes and development negotiations and any delays in such 
programmes would have a negative impact on those plans and the availability of new 
lettings. 

8. Legal implications 

8.1. Section 159(1) of the Housing Act 1996 requires a local authority to comply with 
Part 6 of the Act (sections 159 to 174) in allocating housing accommodation. 
Section 159(7) provides that “subject to the provisions of this Part, a local housing 
authority may allocate housing accommodation in such manner as they consider 
appropriate.” Section 169 provides that, when exercising their functions under Part 
6 of the 1996 Act, as amended by the 2002 Homelessness Act, local housing 

Page 37

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

authorities “shall have regard to such guidance as may be given by the Secretary 
of State" when carrying out their role in allocating social housing.  

8.2. In compliance with section 166A (of the 1996 Act,) Lewisham Housing Authority has a 
scheme (Allocations Policy), “… for determining priorities…” which sets out the 
procedure to be followed when allocating housing accommodation.  

8.3. The ‘Allocation of accommodation; guidance for local housing authorities in 
England’ was published on 29th June 2012. It replaced all previous guidance on 
social housing allocations. It expressly aims to assist local housing authorities to 
take advantage of the provisions within the Localism Act 2011. It also encourages 
authorities to make use of the existing flexibilities within the allocation legislation to 
ensure that social homes are allocated to people who are deemed to need and 
deserve them the most, such as “hard working” families and members of the Armed 
Forces. Further Guidance, namely “Providing social housing for local people” 
[Statutory guidance on social housing allocations for local authorities in England ] 
was published in December 2013. 

8.4. The Localism Act 2011 introduced a number of significant amendments to Part 6 of 
the 1996 Act. Of particular relevance here are the following provisions: Section 
160ZA was inserted by the Localism Act 2011. It established the concept of the 
qualifying person. Social housing may only be allocated to ‘qualifying persons’ and 
housing authorities are given the power to determine what classes of persons are 
or are not qualified to be allocated Housing (s.160ZA(6) and (7)). 

8.5. Section 166A requires housing authorities in England to allocate accommodation in 
accordance with a scheme which must be framed to ensure that certain categories 
of applicants are given reasonable preference for an allocation of social housing. 
Section 166A(9) includes a new requirement for an allocation scheme to give a 
right to review a decision on qualification in s.160ZA(9), and to inform such affected 
persons of the decision on the review and the grounds for it. This is in addition to 
the existing right to review a decision on eligibility. 

8.6. Section 166A(12) provides that housing authorities must have regard to both their 
homelessness and tenancy strategies when framing their allocation scheme. The 
requirement for an allocation scheme to contain a statement of the authority’s 
policy on offering a choice of accommodation or the opportunity to express 
preferences about their accommodation is retained. (s.166A(2)). However, the 
requirement to provide a copy of this statement to people to whom they owe a 
homelessness duty (under s.193(3A) or s.195(3A) of the 1996 Act) is repealed by 
s.148(2) and s.149(3) of the Localism Act 2011. This is because, following the 
changes to the main homelessness duty made by the Localism Act 2011, there can 
no longer be a presumption that the homelessness duty will be brought to an end in 
most cases with an allocation under Part 6. 

8.7. The European Convention on Human Rights states in Article 8 that “Everyone has 
the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and correspondence”. 
The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the Convention. Whilst it does not, 
however, mean that everyone has a right to a home, the provision by an Authority 
of a relevant proactive Allocations Policy and Lettings Plan does assist to reinforce 
the Article 8 principles. 

8.8. The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 
equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

Page 38

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

8.9. In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 
the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

8.10. The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is 
a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. 
It is not an absolute requirement to advance equality of opportunity or foster good 
relations. The Equality and Human Rights Commission issued Technical Guidance 
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 
2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The 
Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and 
attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The 
Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. 
This includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The 
guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, 
as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The 
statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidance-
public-sector-equality-duty-england 

8.11. The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 
guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty: 

 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 

 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 

 Engagement and the equality duty 

 Equality objectives and the equality duty 

 Equality information and the equality duty 

8.12. The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It 
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents 
provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further 
information and resources are available at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-
equality-duty-guidance 

9. Equalities implications 

9.1. The proposed Annual Lettings Plan for 19/20 allocates more properties to 
Homeless households and Supported Housing Move on households than any other 
priority category. This is reflective of the high ongoing rate of homelessness 
applications and demand for supported housing, and the subsequent need to find 
appropriate permanent accommodation for each of these priority groups to 
discharge our housing duty.  

9.2. A substantial number of those on the housing register have not completed the 

Page 39

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

equalities monitoring assessment or have opted to not disclose their information, as 
is their right. This is particularly true of those on the housing register for the above 
mentioned priority rehousing reasons. Analysis of the ethnicity of those accepted 
as homeless indicates that a disproportionately large number of households 
accepted as homeless are BAME, and analysis of the gender of those accepted as 
homeless shows a disproportionately large number of female applicants.  

9.3. In allocating a substantial proportion of properties to those accepted as homeless, 
the Annual Lettings Plan is likely to have an impact on BAME households and 
females as per the above. This mitigates the impact of the reduction in lets to 
overcrowded households, who are also disproportionately likely to share those 
protected characteristics.  

9.4. Regular reviews of the characteristics of those on the Housing Register and those 
that are successfully bidding for properties are to be undertaken to understand the 
impact that the Annual Lettings Plan is having on the above mentioned 
characteristics. This will enable officers to take action to ameliorate any negative 
impact where appropriate, and to continue to refine the lettings process.  

10. Climate change and environmental implications 

10.1. There are no direct climate change or environmental implications arising from this 
report. 

11. Crime and disorder implications 

11.1. There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 

12. Health and wellbeing implications  

12.1. There are no direct health and wellbeing implications arising from this report. 

13. Glossary  

13.1. The glossary below sets out the definition of some of the terms used in the above 
report. 

Term Definition 

Housing Register The list of households eligible to bid for properties that 
become available as part of the Lewisham allocations 
scheme. 

Nightly Paid and B&B Temporary accommodation that the council pays for on a 
night-by-night basis. Bed and Breakfast properties may also 
include the sharing of some facilities. 

Nominations Properties where the Council has rights to nominate 
households to be the tenant of the property. 

Priority Bands  Grouping of applicants based on priority need for housing. 

Registered Care Placements  Placements in properties managed by organisations set up to 
support those with mental health needs. 

Page 40

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Term Definition 

Registered Provider Housing providers registered with the Regulator of Social 
Housing. 

Re-lets  Social housing that is already in use as social housing that is 
let to a new tenant. 

Seriously Overcrowded  Households that require two or more bedrooms than their 
current accommodation contains as defined by the Lewisham 
allocations scheme. 

Social Housing  Housing provided by the Council or registered providers at 
below market rates. 

Social Tenants  Tenants renting property from the Council or registered 
provider at below market rates. 

Supported Accommodation / 
Housing 

Support for vulnerable people to maintain and improve their 
ability to live independently in their own homes, as well as a 
range of specialist supported housing. 

Supported Housing Move On 
quota 

The amount of properties allocated to households on the 
housing register requiring a move on from supported housing. 

Supported Housing Pathways  Accommodation for those with support needs and where the 
accommodation is provided alongside a package of support. 

Temporary Accommodation 
(TA) 

Accommodation that a household may be placed into whilst a 
decision is being made on their homelessness application, or 
after their application has been accepted. 

Young Persons Pathway Accommodation part of the supported housing pathway 
specifically for people aged 16 – 25. 

14. Report author and contact 

14.1. If you have any queries in relation to this report please contact Lee Georgiou at the 
following address Lee.Georgiou@lewisham.gov.uk. 

  

Page 41

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:Lee.Georgiou@lewisham.gov.uk


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

15. Appendix 

15.1. Appendix 1 – Lettings Plan 2020/21 

Count of Lets No. of Beds   

Band & Rehousing Reason Studio One Two Three 
Four 
plus 

Grand 
Total 

Band 1 Total 2 89 43 12 3 149 

Decant 0 8 21 5 2 36 

Emergency 0 3 3 2 0 8 

Exceptional Homeless 0 1 0 0 0 1 

Exceptional Medical 0 0 2 2 0 4 

Leaving Care 1 32 5 0 0 38 

Management Discretion 1 1 7 1 0 1 10 

Overcrowded - unable to succeed 
tenancy 

0 1 0 0 0 1 

Retiring Lewisham Employee with tied 
housing 

0 2 0 0 0 2 

Succession - property too large 0 3 0 0 0 3 

Under Occupied - High Demand 0 32 11 3 0 46 

Band 2 Total 27 116 54 52 16 265 

Homeless Prevention 3 3 26 3 0 38 

Management Discretion 2 2 4 0 0 0 6 

Medical High 0 13 11 16 5 48 

Overcrowded by 2 bed or more 0 0 8 33 11 53 

Supported Housing Move On 22 96 9 0 0 127 

Band 3 Total 36 179 127 79 25 446 

Medical Low 5 26 1 1 0 33 

Awaiting Medical Assessment 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Overcrowded By 1 Bed 3 19 2 4 3 31 

Right to Move 0 0 6 3 0 9 

Priority Homeless 12 68 115 70 22 287 

Welfare Affordability 0 7 0 0 0 7 

Welfare Housing For Older People  16 59 3 0 0 78 

Grand Total 65 384 224 143 44 860 

 

  

Page 42

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

15.2. Appendix 2 - Total Lettings – 2018/19 

Count of Lets No. of Beds   

Band & Rehousing Reason Studio One Two Three Four plus 
Grand 
Total 

Band 1 Total 1 121 33 10 1 166 

Decant   29 7 1   37 

Emergency   3 3 2   8 

Exceptional Homeless   1       1 

Exceptional Medical     2 2   4 

Leaving Care 1 37 6     44 

Management Discretion 1 1 8 1 0 1 11 

Overcrowded - unable to 
succeed tenancy 

  
1 

      
1 

Retiring Lewisham Employee 
with tied housing 

  
2 

      
2 

Starred decant priority   2 1 2   5 

Succession - property too large   4       4 

Under Occupied - High Demand 0 37 13 3 0 53 

Band 2 Total 31 136 74 65 20 326 

Homeless Prevention 3 4 39 3   49 

Management Discretion 2 2 5       7 

Medical High   16 14 20 6 56 

Overcrowded by 2 bed or more     9 42 13 64 

Supported Housing Move On 25 111 10 0 0 146 

Band 3 Total 41 210 248 128 31 658 

Medical Low 6 30 1 1   38 

Awaiting Medical Assessment       1   1 

Overcrowded By 1 Bed 3 22 2 5 3 35 

Priority Homeless 14 79 232 112 25 462 

Welfare Affordability   8       8 

Welfare Housing For Older 
People  

18 68 3 
    

89 

(blank)     12 9 4 25 

Grand Total 73 467 355 203 52 1150 

 

  

Page 43

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

15.3. Appendix 3 – Total Lettings 19/20 to date – (1st April ‘19 – 30th December ‘19) 

Count of Lets No. of Beds 
 

Band & Rehousing Reason Studio One Two Three Four 
plus 

Grand 
Total 

Band 1 Total 3 64 30 3 
 

100 

Decant 
 

5 2 
  

7 

Emergency 
 

1 
 

1 
 

2 

Exceptional Homeless 
 

1 
   

1 

Leaving Care 1 32 6 
  

39 

Management Discretion 1 2 6 1 
  

9 

Overcrowded - unable to succeed 
tenancy 

 
1 

   
1 

Retiring Lewisham Employee with tied 
housing 

  
1 

  
1 

Succession - property too large 
 

1 
   

1 

Under Occupied - High Demand 
 

17 20 2 
 

39 

Band 2 Total 22 105 29 35 7 198 

Homeless Prevention 
 

12 5 
  

17 

Management Discretion 2 3 13 4 1 
 

21 

Medical High 
 

12 12 8 
 

32 

Overcrowded by 2 bed or more 
  

7 26 7 40 

Supported Housing Move On 19 68 1 
  

88 

Band 3 Total 19 99 108 52 5 283 

Former armed forces personnel 1 1 
   

2 

Medical Low 
 

12 
   

12 

Overcrowded By 1 Bed 2 8 15 4 
 

29 

Priority Homeless 8 39 90 44 3 184 

Welfare Housing For Older People  8 39 3 
  

50 

(blank) 
   

4 2 6 

Grand Total 44 268 167 90 12 581 

 

  

Page 44

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

15.4. Appendix 4 - Average waiting times of households moved based on lettings outcomes 
(weeks) 2018/19 

Average Weeks on Housing Register No. of beds   

Band & Rehousing Reason Studio One Two Three Four plus 
Grand 
Total 

Band 1 Total 3 107 161 116 129 118 

Decant   222 224 274   224 

Emergency   21 18 21   20 

Exceptional Homeless   5       5 

Exceptional Medical     14 22   18 

Leaving Care 3 19 8     17 

Management Discretion 1 0 15 15 0 129 28 

Overcrowded - unable to succeed 
tenancy 

  
21 

      
21 

Retiring Lewisham Employee with tied 
housing 

  
22 

      
22 

Starred decant priority   204 135 135   162 

Succession - property too large   18       18 

Under Occupied - High Demand 0 145 267 179 0 179 

Band 2 Total 5 22 122 140 150 75 

Homeless Prevention 11 5 123 144   108 

Management Discretion 2 3 5       5 

Medical High   146 124 152 102 138 

Overcrowded by 2 bed or more     171 135 165 146 

Supported Housing Move On 4 6 91     11 

Band 3 Total 61 81 142 172 216 127 

Medical Low 97 105 110 168   105 

Awaiting Medical Assessment       96   96 

Overcrowded By 1 Bed 79 114 502 325 812 316 

Priority Homeless 46 49 186 168 191 176 

Supported Housing Move On   3       3 

Welfare Affordability   134       134 

Welfare Housing For Older People  57 94 20     84 

(blank)     156 147 187 158 

Grand Total 36 70 140 159 189 111 

 

  

Page 45

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

15.5. Appendix 5 - Average waiting times based on lettings outcomes (weeks) - April 1st 
2019 – 30th December 2019 

Average Time on Housing Register 
(weeks) 

No. of Beds 
 

Band & Rehousing Reason Studio One Two Three Four 
plus 

Grand 
Total 

Band 1 Total 1 53 227 134 
 

106 

Decant 
 

256 172 
  

232 

Emergency 
 

13 
 

5 
 

9 

Exceptional Homeless 
 

4 
   

4 

Leaving Care 2 17 16 
  

16 

Management Discretion 1 1 36 42 
  

29 

Overcrowded - unable to succeed 
tenancy 

 
19 

   
19 

Retiring Lewisham Employee with 
tied housing 

  
13 

  
13 

Succession - property too large 
 

8 
   

8 

Under Occupied - High Demand 
 

77 316 199 
 

206 

Band 2 Total 5 16 104 129 356 60 

Homeless Prevention 
 

14 120 
  

45 

Management Discretion 2 2 9 29 1 
 

11 

Medical High 
 

43 99 202 
 

104 

Overcrowded by 2 bed or more 
  

141 111 356 159 

Supported Housing Move On 6 13 115 
  

12 

Band 3 Total 39 84 186 220 221 147 

Former armed forces personnel 2 1 
   

1 

Medical Low 
 

102 
   

102 

Overcrowded By 1 Bed 27 130 455 607 
 

357 

Priority Homeless 29 42 148 185 240 130 

Welfare Housing For Older People  57 113 0 
  

97 

(blank) 
   

214 193 207 

Grand Total 20 50 179 182 300 110 

 

 

Page 46

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 

Housing Select Committee 

 

Report title: Homelessness in Lewisham and the impact of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

Date: 12 March 2020 

Key decision: No.  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Director for Housing Services 

Outline and recommendations 

This report provides an update on the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
in Lewisham. This includes a review of the impact of these changes, the response of the 
service and plans to review the policy framework to support more effective implementation 
of the Act. 

 

It is recommended that Housing Select Committee note and comment on the content of this 
report. 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

There has been no prior engagement or decision making with regards this report. 

Housing Select Committee was previously asked to review an update on the implementation 
of the act in Lewisham on the 17th December 2018. The details of this report and the 
accompanying presentation are available at the following link. 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5030&Ver=4 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. In April 2018 the Homelessness Reduction Act (HRAct) was introduced, which 
represents the most significant change in the rights of homeless people in the last 15 
years.   

1.2. The HRAct added two new duties to the original statutory rehousing duty: the duty to 
prevent homelessness and the duty to relieve homelessness. Together, these have:  

 extended entitlement to help, particularly for single households  

 embedded a focus on prevention,  

 renewed a focus on local joint working;  

 started a fundamental shift in homelessness services to a more 
personalised and client-focussed approach.   

1.3. The HRact was originally intended to reduce the number of accepted homeless 
households, as local authorities would be working with households earlier to prevent or 
relieve homelessness. Whilst it is the case that the number of preventions have 
significantly increased since the HRAct came in, it is also the case that across London 
and Lewisham the number of acceptances has increased along with an increase of the 
use of temporary accomodation.  This is due to the wider economic and structural 
factors which are also contributing to the pressures currently faced by homelessness 
services. 

1.4. There was a underestimation by the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local 
Government of the cost of managing the HRAct, particularly in London. This, in 
addition to the rising use of TA, has meant that homelessness services are under 
significant financial strain.   

1.5. The service has introduced a number of changes to respond to these pressures, and 
continues to work to embed the HRAct.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1. It is recommended that Housing Select Committee note the content of this report. 

Page 48

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5030&Ver=4


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

3. Policy Context 

3.1. The contents of this report are aligned with the current legislative framework, and the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) single 
departmental plan.1 

3.2. This report is consistent with the Council’s policy framework. It supports the following 
priorities of the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2018-22: 

 Tackling the housing crisis – Everyone has a decent home that is secure and 
affordable 

3.3. It will also support the delivery of the Council’s Housing Strategy 2015-20, specifically 
the objective of helping residents at times of severe and urgent housing need. 

3.4. We are currently publically consulting on the new Housing Strategy 2020-26, and 
undertaking work to implement a homelessness and rough sleeping strategy 2020-26. 

4. Background  

4.1. The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRAct) was introduced on the 3rd April 2018. 
The HRAct is the the most significant change in Homelessness legislation in a 
generation.  

4.2. The HRAct made significant changes to the eligibility for homelessness assistance, 
and the timeframe under which assistance must be given. This has fundamentally 
shifted the intention and culture of statutory homelessness services to one of proactive 
prevention and relief, and has intentionally expanded eligibility for a personalised 
homelessess assistance service to everyone, regardless of whether they will meet the 
full houisng duty criteria.  

4.3. All households that are eligible for public funds are entitled to proactive support via a 
personalised housing plan (PHP) from the local authority if they are at risk of becoming 
homeless. The HRAct introduced a statutory 56 day period where the service must 
work with households to prevent homelessness, and a 56 day period where the service 
must work with households to relieve homelessness. The prevention and relief duties 
apply regardless of whether applicants are in priority need or not.  

4.4. The HRAct did not make any changes to the ‘main housing duty.’ This means that that 
households still need to be in priority need and be unintentionally homeless for them to 
be provided with longer term temporary accommodation and a final offer of 
accommodation in line with our statutory duties.  

4.5. The HRAct has introduced a greater requirement to support single homeless 
applicants. It  also introduced a ‘duty to refer,’ which compels certain services to make 
a referral to the LA where they know their service user is homeless or at risk of 
homelessness.  

4.6. The HRAct has had a significant impact on the the way Lewisham delivers its 
Homelessness service, which is fully explored in this report.  

4.7. In parallel to the act being introduced, the economic and structurural challeges around 
affordability remain, and local authorities have had to respond to these challenges 
through an increased use of Temporary Accommodation.  

4.8. There are a number of factors driving this increase, including: 

                                                

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for-communities-and-local-government-
single-departmental-plan/ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government-single-departmental-
plan--2 

Page 49

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for-communities-and-local-government-single-departmental-plan/ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government-single-departmental-plan--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for-communities-and-local-government-single-departmental-plan/ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government-single-departmental-plan--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for-communities-and-local-government-single-departmental-plan/ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government-single-departmental-plan--2


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 A lack of genuinely affordable homes and a decline in the available social 
homes for let; 

 A severe shortage of available propeties at LHA where the landlord is willing to 
let to homeless, largely benefit dependent, claimants;  

 The increasing cost of the private rented sector (PRS) and an increasing 
reliance on the PRS; 

 Welfare reform, including the freezing of local housing allowance (LHA) until 
2018. 

4.9. Nationally, TA placements have been rising at around twice the rate of homelessness 
acceptances. Since 2010/11 homelessness acceptances have increased by 34% whilst 
the use of TA has risen by 71%. This highlights increasing reliance on TA by local 
authorities to meet housing need, due to the drivers outlined above which are 
narrowing the options available in terms of housing supply.  

4.10. The lack of genuinely affordable accommodation and high cost of housing has a 
double impact of both increasing the demand on homelessness services and also 
restricting the supply of housing available to local authorities to find solutions. As a 
result, a multi-pronged approach to delivering a homeless service must be adopted. 

5. Homelessness in London and Lewisham  

Overview of homelessness and the use of temporary accomodation in London 

5.1. Homelessness is one of the most pressing challenges. The number of homeless 
households has increased and remains high in London. London councils account for 
66% of all TA placements nationally. 

5.2. There were over 5,000 more households accepted as homeless by local authorities in 
2017/18 than there were in 2010/11, an increase of 50%. London accounts for two 
thirds of all TA placements in England. 

5.3. At the same time as this increased demand for assistance, there has been a decrease 
in the supply of affordable accommodation. The latest most reliable data shows that 
between 2011 and 2018 there was a 26% decrease in the number of social lets that 
London authorities made, and the proportion of social housing stock re-let in London 
during 18/19 was only 2%.2  

5.4. In addition, the private rented sector (PRS) across London has become even more 
inaccessible for those on low incomes, with an estimated 2% of properties available at 
LHA rate or lower3 and continued issues with private rented landlords accepting 
tenants who claim housing benefit or universal credit.   

5.5. This combination of increased demand and decreased supply in the PRS and social 
housing sectors, has resulted in local authorities increasing their use of temporary 
accomodation year on year, as shown in chart 1. A report commissioned by London 
Councils highlights that it is a constant, often daily, struggle to find enough 
accomodation for households needing TA. Over 40% of family households are now 
placed outside their own borough4.  

5.6. A significant proportion of the TA increase is attributed to a rise in the use of nightly 

                                                

2https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/8614
71/Social_Housing_Lettings_in_England_April_2018_to_March_2019.pdf 
3 https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/1801101/LHA_and_homelessness.pdf 
4 https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/housing-and-planning/homelessness/cost-
homelessness-services-london 

Page 50

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

paid accommodation, which is the most expensive and often the poorest quality. Over 
the last 5 years has been a 37% increase in the number of households in Nightly Paid 
accommodation arranged by London authorities, from 15,300 to 21,000, as illustrated 
by Chart 1. London boroughs spent almost £350m on nightly paid accommodation in 
2017/18 alone.5 

Chart 1 - Number of households in temporary accommodation in London 

 

 

Homelessness in Lewisham 

5.7. As at the end of January 2020, over 2,390 households were in TA arranged by 
Lewisham, of which 739 are in Nightly Paid accomodation, as shown in Chart 2. There 
has been a 23% increase in the number of households in TA arranged by Lewisham 
since March 2018, which is the most significant rise in a short period of time 
experienced by the council. 

Chart 2 – Number of households in temporary accommodation arranged by Lewisham 

                                                

5 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing 

32,910 33,930 34,830 35,650 35,490

15,330
18,130 19,450 19,790 21,050

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

Jan-15 Jan-16 Jan-17 Jan-18 Jan-19

Temporary Accommodation :of which Nightly Paid

1159 1195 1206
1373 1412 1487

1652282

529 544

491
532

661

739

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

2200

2400

2600

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 YTD

Year end snapshot of families in TA :of which Nightly Paid

Page 51

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

5.8. There has also been a year on year decline in social lets in Lewisham, highlighting the 
correlation between lack of supply and increased need for TA. Chart 3 shows a 45% 
decrease in the number of social and affordable lets in Lewisham since 2010/11, as the 
number of available affordable properties has decreased.  

Chart 3 – Number of lets to households on the housing register 

5.9. Since April 2018, 31% of homeless households became homeless because of their 
family or friends no longer being able to provide accommodation. A similar number - 
28% - became homeless due to their PRS tenancy coming to an end, largely as a 
consequence of the termination of an Assured Shorthold Tenancy.  

5.10. The decreasing number of affordable PRS properties is a significant factor in the levels 
of homleessness in Lewisham, as there are so few properties that are available at LHA 
rate and where the landlord is willing to rent to households that claim houisng benefit or 
universal credit. This places additional pressure on the Council where we secure 
affordable properties for temporary accommodation from the private rented sector.  

5.11. Lewisham has the same challenges as London boroughs in sourcing accomodation to 
be used for temporary accomodation. Lewisham always seeks to place households in 
TA in or as close to Lewisham as possible. For a full overview of out of borough TA 
placements, please see the report heard at Housing Select Committee in September 
20196.   

5.12. Currently there is not enough permanent affordable housing in Lewisham for those in 
TA to move into. The reliance on TA will continue to rise without the corresponding 
number of genuinely affordable housing across the PRS and social housing sector to 
match the ‘inflow’ of households into TA, or increases in homeless prevention and 
longer term settled moves into the PRS. 

 

                                                

6 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s67572/07%20Out%20of%20borough%20placemen
ts%20-%20180919.pdf 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

Page 52

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

6. The impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act in London  

The impact for London Authorities of implementing the Homelessness Reduction Act 

6.1. Local authorities across London have continued to adapt their services since the 
HRAct came in.  

6.2. Just under two years since implementation, research and data suggests that the full 
impact of the HRAct is not yet understood, with boroughs across London reporting 
significantly different figures at different stages. The new system of data recording – 
HCLIC – has been a signifcant challenge to use. 

6.3. The HRAct has had a range of impacts for local authorities in London7: 

 Numbers approaching the local authority: As intended, the HRAct has 
increased the number of households approaching boroughs for assistance. In 
the first year of the HRAct, around 55,000 households were assessed by a 
London borough homelessness service as compared to an average of under 
30,000 per annum over the previous ten years, representing an 83% increase. 
However, the magnitude of this change has varied across different boroughs.  

 Staffing requirements: to manage the change, authorities have had to hire a 
number of new additional staff, often using agency staff due to a lack of 
certainty with funding and challenges in recrutiment.   

 Working practices, culture and workload: The working practices and culture of 
the homelessness services are changing across London in line with the ethos 
and intention of the HRAct. However, significantly more time and resource is 
needed to manage cases at various stages which has had implications for 
staffing and costs. There has also been a significant adminstrative burden as a 
result of the HRAct as a consequence of data submission requriements. 

 Varied experiences of cases: There has been an increase of complex cases 
which need substantial input, mainly from the increase in support for single 
applicants, whilst on the other hand there has been a reported high drop-out 
rate where applicants were given personal housing plans but didn’t return8 

 Partnership working: From October 2018, the HRAct placed some 

organisations under a duty to refer to a local housing authority where they 
consider that a service user may be homeless or at risk of homelessness, 
and agrees to the referral. 

6.4. With an increase in the opportunities for prevention and relief of homelessness at 
earlier points, London authorities have reported significantly higher prevention activity, 
although it is varied across London. Between April 2018 and June 2019 almost 10,000 
households have had their homelessness prevented across London. 

6.5. Analysis suggest that the intended outcomes of the Act – falling costs after 3 years, 
and a reduction in the need for TA as preventions increase, will not be realised and by 
some margin. On the contrary, with the increased workload, administration process 
and reposnibilitiues for prevention and relief, costs of delivering the service is expected 
to rise. In addition, with increasing pressures in the housing market and a lack of 
housing to move households out of TA into, it is unlikely in London that the use of TA 
will decrease.  

                                                

7 https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/housing-and-planning/homelessness/cost-
homelessness-services-london 
8 https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/housing-and-planning/homelessness/cost-
homelessness-services-london 

Page 53

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/housing-and-planning/homelessness/cost-homelessness-services-london
https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/housing-and-planning/homelessness/cost-homelessness-services-london


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

6.6. The underestimation of both the financial impact and the adminstrative time needed to 
fully comply with the act is further explored in section 8 of this report. 

7. The impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act in Lewisham  

7.1. The intention of the HRAct – increasing eligibility for homelessness assistance – has 
resulted in an expected increase in the number of approaches to the service in 
Lewisham. Whilst it is not possible to directly compare the position before and after the 
act, the service estimate an increase of more than 50% in the number of cases that 
they have worked with between 2016/17 and 2018/19. 

7.2. The main driver for this increase is the change in caseload with regards single 
homelessness. Between April 2016 and March 2018 there were 426 homelessness 
applications by single households, whereas since April 2018 there have been almost 
2,200. 

7.3. Prior to the new legislation, the single homeless service was largely working with non-
priority households in an advisory capacity. The new legal duties require that we 
assess and complete a personalised housing plan with any applicant who is eligible 
and homeless or threatened with homelessness, and then take proactive steps to 
prevent or relieve homelessness in concert with the applicant. 

7.4. As noted previously, the HRAct made no substantive change to the acceptance criteria 
for the main housing duty. Despite this, in 2019/20 we are currently projecting 840 
acceptances, which will be a 21% increase from the number of acceptances in 18/19 
(690 acceptances).  

Homelessness Prevention and Relief 

7.5. To date this year the service has prevented or relieved homelessness for 850 
households, with a year projection of 911 preventions and reliefs. This will be a 59% 
increase compared to 18/19. This has been an area of success for Lewisham - we are 
now preventing more homelessness than before. Over 61% of all preventions and 
reliefs since the introduction of the act have been single households. In line with 
London’s expereince, a number of households (782) were worked with through the 
prevention stage, relief stage or both but no longer required assistance following the 
statutory period ending. 

7.6. The PRS forms a crucial and growing part of the council’s offer to households that are 
threatened with homelessness or have become homeless. The service sources and 
offers good quality PRS accommodation to households that are threatened with 
homelessness or  placed into temporary accommodation. This is offered in line with our 
locational priority policy to enable households to move into stable accommodation 
within the PRS. 

7.7. In 2019/20 to date 158 homeless households have been re-settled into the private 
rented sector. The service is committed to supporting as many households as possible 
into settled accommodation that provides stablity and security. 

Working practices and administration 

7.8. Assessments now take twice as long as they did previously. This is a consequence of:  

 increased data gathering required under the act,  

 a change in the way the service operates to support collaborative conversations 
and an in depth personalised plan 

 and a more proactive service. 

7.9. As experienced by Local Authorties across London, the HRAct has increased the 
administrative burden on the service.  Officers estimate that around a fifth of their case 

Page 54

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

work time is taken up accurately completing the data returns required by central 
government.    

 

8. How the service has responded to the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 

Recruitment and resourcing  

8.1. In line with the experience across London, Lewisham has had to recruit additional staff 
to respond to the HRAct. Eight new additional Housing Solutions Officers have been 
recruited to manage the increase in caseloads and demand on the service and two 
new support officer roles were created to relieve some of the administrative burden.  

8.2. A team of mediation officers have been embedded to the service to focus on 
prevention work, to keep applicants in their homes were possible. The mediators have 
successfully assisted 41 households to remain in their home by providing floating 
support, debt advice and negotiation with both landlords and family members. 

8.3. The Housing Needs service is expanding on these successes by developing more 
specialist roles across the team where required. These roles will provide intensive 
support, tenancy training and resettlement for more vulnerable households.   

8.4. In line with the London wide experience the service finds it challenging to recruit to the 
vacancies within the service. In response to this, three Trainee Housing Assistants 
have also been recruited. These roles give the opportunity for Lewisham residents to 
gain experience, knowledge and training in the housing sector and to enable us to train 
and grow new officers.  

Expanding our prevention initiatives 

8.5. The service has developed several new prevention offers, to assist both families and 
single applicants.  

8.6. The council uses Homefinders UK, a social housing mobility scheme which supports 
homeless households into social housing across the UK.  68 households have moved 
through the scheme; of these 50 were single applicants.  

8.7. Single applicants have access to a landlord incentive to find affordable accommodation 
which will enable them to move forward with their lives.  The payment goes towards the 
deposit and first months rent of accommodation.  The deposits are kept in a protected 
scheme so that applicants can use the money again, should for any reason, they be 
asked to leave.    

8.8. The service has been running weekly ‘find a home’ workshops since January 2020. 
These are run in conjunction with the resettlement service.  These workshops provide 
single applicants and families with the skills and confidence to look for their own 
properties. To promote better outcomes, the workships operate in a relaxed and 
supportive setting at Catford library. These workshops operate from Catford library in a 
comfortable environment. To date 40 applicants have attended, 15 have been 
supported to find viewings on the day of the workshop and 5 have now signed up to 
new tenancies. 

8.9. Funding has been secured from both the GLA and MHCLG to establish a department 
specialising in working with rough sleepers.  The Rough Sleepers Initiative works in 
conjunction with other partners across the borough including the 999 club to prevent 
rough sleeping by providing intensive wrap round support and linking individuals to 
services or resettlement options which match their needs.  So far nearly 50 households 
have been supported by the team, the majority of which have been provided with 
accommodation. 

Page 55

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

8.10. The service continues to develop a range of prevention approaches, and is currently 
focussing on more tightly defining a landlord offer to help keep families within their 
current PRS tenancy.  

Partnership Working and Duty to Refer 

8.11. Work has been carried out by the Housing Needs service to improve partnership 
working throughout the borough.   

8.12. Workshops with key partners including the DWP, hospitals and probation have 
helped ensure referrals are appropriate. Over 300 referrals have been received and 
the service has accepted a prevention or relief duty for 222 households; of these 71 
(32%) have been supported to find new accommodation or to remain where they are. 

8.13. Joint working protocols with the credit union have secured the homes over 60 
households in the last financial year, through loans to clear rent arrears and the 
provision of budgeting, benefits and money advice.  

8.14. The housing benefit team have supported 40 households since June 2018 to sustain 
their tenancies by administering backdated payments and negotiating with landlords.  
They have also administered DHP payments for short periods whilst supporting 
applicants to secure their homes. 

8.15. A weekly advice service is held at Lewisham probation offices.  Officers carry out 
assessments and link applicants into different housing options suitable for their 
circumstances. This mitigates the need for applicants to attend the offices, and the 
assessments can be carried out in a fully risk managed area. We are exploring 
opportunities to expand our co-located services, including with the South London 
Women’s hub and physical and mental health in-patient services. 

8.16. An employment project has been set up with the JobCentre to support households to 
find employment or training opportunities. This project has supported over 70 
households into employment or training; of these 40 were benefit capped and 
previously in reciept of a discretionary housing payment (DHP). These clients are now 
able to independently pay their rent, and the DHP saving is being used to assist other 

households at risk of homelessness.  

8.17. Lewisham’s DWP Homeless Outreach Adviser provides advice and assistance to 
benefit claimants at risk of homelessness every fortnight at Laurence House.  Eight of 
these surgeries have taken place and the adviser has helped 23 applicants with their 
benefit claims and employment issues. 

Culture Change and Staff Development 

8.18. A large culture change programme has embedded coaching and motivational 
interviewing techniques across the housing needs team.  Officers hold collaborative 
conversations with clients, carrying out strength based assessments which inform the 
types of steps included in the personalised housing plans.  These kinds of positive 
interactions are integral to the assessment process.   

8.19. Officers have benefited from an extensive training package including courses around 
homelessness legislation, decision making, interview techniques and casework 
management.   Manager and expert led workshops are held with staff to further instil 
confdence around decision making and case handling. 

8.20. A peer review process involving a neighbouring borough is currently underway.  This 
review will identify areas where improvements can be made to processes, ensuring 
every opportunity to prevent or relieve homelessness is taken.  

8.21. As a trailblazer borough, Lewisham received additional funding to trial various 
approaches to preventing and relieving homelessness. A number of the projects and 
initiatives described here were undertaken as part of that Trailblazer progamme. 

Page 56

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

9. Service improvement currently underway 

Integrated Housing IT System 

9.1. An integrated housing IT system has recently been procured to replace the two 
systems currently in use by supported housing, homelessness, allocations and lettings 
and procurement teams.   

9.2. This system has been custom made to support the HRAct and is being configured to 
fully support housing servces.  It will achieve greater efficiencies, reduce duplication of 
data entry, improve the insight and understanding we have of our clients and provide 
far better capacity for self service through the use of an effective client portal.  

Process review and improvement 

9.3. Alongside the implemetation of the new IT system, a programme of process review and 
improvement is taking place with the aim of reducing duplication, speeding up and 
streamlining processes. 

Improving access to the service 

9.4. A full review of customer access to the frontline service has been undertaken aiming to 
better deal with demand at the front door. Upwards of 200 clients per week attend the 
office to receive housing services. Households often have to wait a long time for advice 
or an assessment.  

9.5. To remedy this, new processes and systems have been introduced, as well as the 
trialing of fast track, one step assessments to ensure that those who approach as 
homeless on the day, including victims of domestic violence, can be quickly linked into 
other support services. 

Changes to the Customer Service Centre 

9.6. The service has developed a key set of requirements for the renovation works of the 
access point at Laurence House.  The aim is to create well thought out, functional 
areas for clients based on their needs and the tasks they are completing.  Comfort, 
privacy, and security are key features to be included in the renovation plans. This will 
better utilise the new systems and processes to deliver a quality service for users, 
improved working environment for the team and greater efficiency.   

10. Financial impact of the homelessness reduction act 

10.1. Over £1bn is spent on Homelessness every year in the UK, of which over three 
quarters is spent on temporary accommodation.9  

10.2. In 2017/18, London local authorities spent over £900 million assessing, assisting and 
accommodating homeless households. Some £200 million of this money came from 
their own general funds. 

10.3. To date the government has only provided around £30 million for managing the new 
duties specifically resulting from the Act, through grants including Flexible Homeless 
Support Grant and New Burdens Funding. It’s estimated that up to 2022/23 London 
boroughs will spend an additional £80 million to manage the increase in demand on 
their service, leaving boroughs to find £50 million from their own resources over the 
period to 2022/23.  

10.4. There is no long-term clarity over grant funding beyond 2020/21.  

10.5. The significant and detrimental shortfall between the funding provided by MHCLG and 

                                                

9 https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Homelessness.pdf 

Page 57

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

expenditure is as a result of severe underestimations by MHCLG in their new burdens 
funding calculations. It is estimated that the cost to a London Local Authority of an 
acceptance is more than twice what MHCLG estimated (£9556 vs £4200), and the cost 
of a prevention / relief case is almost five times more (£2517 vs £530). 

10.6. The funding settlement is based partially on these calculations which are not reflective 
of the actual costs of running a homelessness service in London, posing serious and 
negative implications for Local Authorities in London. 

10.7. Between 2017/18 and 2019/20 Lewisham received £12m of FHSG from MHCLG, and 
£1.2m in new burdens funding. In 2020/21 a combined £4.25m of FHSG and 
homelessness reduction grant will be provided to Lewisham. 

10.8. Whilst the ongoing provision of FHSG and the introduction of the homelessness 
reduction grant is welcome, the cost of providing a homelessness service in Lewisham 
has escalated rapidly in recent years as demand has remained high. 

10.9. In 2018/19 the council spent £29m on homelessness, an increase of almost £4.5m 
compared to 2017/18. Furthermore, over £3.6m of the expenditure in 2018/19 could 
not be recouped, compared to £2.3m in 2017/18. 

10.10. The use of expensive nightly paid accommodation is the main driver for this 
unrecoverable expenditure. The council has had to increase it’s use of such 
accommodation as demand for assistance has continued to outstrip the supply of 
alternative TA or permanent accommodation. 

10.11. This is particularly challenging as the service is committed to delivering over £640k of 
savings in the use of nightly paid accommodation across 2019/20 and 2020/21. 

11. Policy reviews to be undertaken by the service 

11.1. The implementation of the HRAct has highlighted the increasing and ongoing 
challenges that the service is facing as a consequence of increased demand and an 
ongoing reduction in supply of genuinely affordable housing and access to afforardable 
and suitable PRS accommodaton.  

11.2. As a result, the council is committed to undertake a review of a number of crucial 
policies and frameworks that impact on how we respond to the current challenges: 

11.3. A review of the allocations policy: the allocations policy was last fully reviewed in April 
2017. A review will focus on priority banding definitions with a focus on overcrowding, 
and how the allocations policy works for victims of domestic violence.  

11.4. A review of the locational priority checklist and its operation: the locational priority 
checklist was approved on 11th December 2015 by Mayor and Cabinet. It provides a 
framework with which placements to TA and discharges into the PRS will be made. 
This will be reviewed for its effectiveness and approach, including the following areas: 
a review of the use of travel time as a method of determining location of TA and 
discharge property; ensuring that criteria for remaining in borough is fully inclusive for 
those who are carers and are in receipt of care; ensuring that the policy is clear in how 
it relates to PRSO discharge.  

11.5. More detail will be presented to Housing Select Committee and Mayor and Cabinet 
when the review has concluded. 

12. Financial implications  

12.1. This report asks Housing Select Committee members to note and provide comments 
on the update to the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act within 
Lewisham. The update includes a review of the impact and and service response. As 
such, there are no direct financial implications arising from this report 

Page 58

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

12.2. There are significant costs associated with housing generally, including managing the 
provision of council housing and providing services to those experiencing 
homelessness or the threat of homelessness. All of these are affected over time by the 
demand for housing.The budget report agreed in February each year, sets out the 
Capital and Revenue resources available for Housing services and provision on an 
annual basis.  

12.3. As noted in this report, the autority is currently receiving FHSG and New Burdens 
funding which has been specifically allocated to admisitrating the HRAct. 

12.4. The New Burdens funding has enabled the employment of additional officers to cope 
with the increased work load as a result of the introduction of the act. However, there is 
no long-term clarity over this funding, as currently there is no indication of funding 
beyond 2020/21.  

12.5. It is unclear whether it is the intention of the government to continue to provide grant 
support and if so, at what rate, and for how long. If funding is not provided beyond 
2020/21 there will be a significant impact on service delivery and the ability of the 
service to remain witin allocated budgets.  

13. Legal implications 

13.1. This report provides an update to Housing Select Committee following the introduction 
of the Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA) in April 2018. The main duties imposed by 
the Homelessness Reduction Act are laid out in section 4 of this report. There are no 
further legal implications arising from this report. 

14. Equalities implications 

14.1. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report. 

14.2. Whilst there are no direct implications, the provisions of the homelessness reduction 
act seek to increase access to robust housing support for all eligible applicants. As 
such all households benefit from the increased access to services that the act 
provisions for. 

14.3. This is particularly the case for single households not in priority need, who are entitled 
to a more comprehensive service as a consequence of the act. 

15. Climate change and environmental implications 

15.1. There are no direct climate change and environmental implications arising from this 
report. 

16. Crime and disorder implications 

16.1. There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 

17. Health and wellbeing implications  

17.1. There are no direct health and wellbeing implications arising from this report.  

18. Social value implications 

18.1. There are no direct social value implications arising from this report.  

19. Background papers 

19.1. Housing select committee previously considered a report on this subject on the 17th 
December 2018. This report is available at the following link 

Page 59

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5030&V
er=4 

20. Glossary  

20.1. The glossary below sets out the definition of some of the terms used in the above 
report. 

Term Definition 

Assured Shorthold Tenancy 

The most common form of tenancy in the private rented 

sector. An assured shorthold tenancy gives the tenant the 
right to occupy a property for a fixed period of time, 
provided that they keep to the terms of their tenancy 
agreement. 

Main Housing Duty 
The main housing duty is a duty to provide temporary 
accommodation until such time as the duty is ended 

Personalised Housing Plan 
(PHP) 

A plan tailored to the specific circumstances of the 
household. This sets out the actions that the household and 
the authority will take to prevent or relieve homelessness. 

Prevention Duty 

This is the legal requirement placed on authorities to work 
with eligible households that are threatened with 
homelessness within 56 days. The duty requires that the 
authority and the household take actions within this period 
to secure their existing accommodation or find alternative 
accommodation to prevent them becoming homeless. 

Relief Duty 

This is the legal requirement placed on authorities to work 
with eligible households that have become homeless for 56 
days. During this period the authority and the household 
are required to be taking actions to source accommodation 
to enable the household to relieve their homelessness. 

Temporary Accommodation 
(TA) 

Accommodation that a household may be placed into whilst a 
decision is being made on their homelessness application, or 
after their application has been accepted. 

21. Report author and contact 

21.1. If you have any queries in relation to this report please contact Lee Georgiou at the 
following address Lee.Georgiou@lewisham.gov.uk. 

 

Page 60

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5030&Ver=4
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5030&Ver=4
mailto:Lee.Georgiou@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 

Housing Select Committee 

 

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

 Housing Select Committee (HSC) work programme 2019/20 agreed by committee on 
1st May 2019. 

 HSC work programme 2019/20 agreed by Business Panel on 7th May 2019 

 HSC work programme 2019/20 reviewed at committee meetings: 4th June 2019; 10th 
July; 18th September 2019; 30th October 2019; 16th December 2019; 30th January, 
and 12th March. 

 

Report title: Select Committee work programme report 

Date: 12 March 2020 

Key decision: No.  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: Not applicable 

Contributors: John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager 

Outline and recommendations 

To advise members of the completed work programme for 2019/20 and to propose draft 
priority themes for the committee’s work programme for 2020/21. 

The Committee is asked to: 

 note the completed work programme attached at appendix A 

 review the issues covered over the course of 2019/20 

 review forthcoming key decisions set out in appendix B 

 consider priority themes for the 2020/21 work programme 

 note the draft work programme for 2020/21 attached at appendix C 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

1. Summary 

1.1. Each select committee is required to agree a work programme for submission to the 
Business Panel at the beginning of the municipal year. As this is the last meeting of the 
Housing Select Committee in 2019/20 members are being asked to put forward 
suggestions for the 2020/21 work programme. Please note, however, that the 2020/21 
work programme will not be formally agreed until the first meeting of 2020/21. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. The Committee is asked to:  

 note the completed work programme attached at appendix A 

 review the issues covered over the course of 2019/20 

 review forthcoming key decisions set out in appendix B 

 consider priority themes for the 2020/21 work programme 

 note the draft work programme for 2020/21 attached at appendix C  

3. Prioritising and planning for 2020/21 

3.1. Five committee meetings will be scheduled for the 2020/21 municipal year. A draft work 
programme will be put forward at the first meeting taking into account key local issues 
and the committee’s previous work. At this meeting members are asked to review the 
committee’s work over 2019/20 and consider priority themes for 2020/21.  

3.2. Work programme suggestions should be considered against the committee’s terms of 
reference and the prioritisation chart set out below, and be achievable in terms of the 
meeting time available. The Committee should give consideration to issues of 
importance to Local Assemblies and decisions due to be made by Mayor and Cabinet. 
Items within the work programme should also be linked to the priorities of the Council’s 
Corporate Strategy for 2018-2022 (set out below): 

Open Lewisham - Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all, where we 
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us. 

Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is secure and 
affordable. 

Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has 
access to an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the support they 
need to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential. 

Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-quality job 
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local 
economy. 

Delivering and defending: health, social care and support - Ensuring 
everyone receives the health, mental health, social care and support services 
they need. 

Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces, and benefits 
from a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local 
environment. 

Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here 
as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime. 

 

Page 62

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/open-lewisham
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/tackling-the-housing-crisis
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/giving-children-and-young-people-the-best-start-in-life
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/building-an-inclusive-local-economy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/delivering-and-defending-health-social-care-and-support
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/making-lewisham-greener
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/building-safer-communities


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

 

 

Page 63

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

4. Housing Select Committee terms of reference 

4.1. The Council’s constitution sets out the Committee’s powers as defined by the terms of 
reference (set out below). The Committee should familiarise itself with the terms of 
reference and consider its remit when selecting items for scrutiny.  

Housing Select Committee terms of reference: 

To fulfil all overview and scrutiny functions in relation to the discharge by the authority 
of its housing functions. This shall include the power to:  

(a) review and scrutinise decisions made or other action taken in connection with the 
discharge of the Council of its housing function  

(b) make reports or recommendations to the authority and/or Mayor and Cabinet with 
respect to the discharge of these functions  

(c) make recommendations to the authority and/or Mayor and Cabinet proposals for 
housing policy  

(d) to review initiatives put in place by the Council with a view to achieving the Decent 
Homes standard, making recommendations and/or report thereon to the Council and/or 
Mayor and Cabinet  

(e) To establish links with housing providers in the borough which are concerned with 
the provision of social housing 

4.2. As set out in the constitution, the Committee has a responsibility for scrutinising the 
Council’s strategic housing functions as well as the work of Lewisham Homes and the 
Brockley Private Finance Initiative (PFI). The strategic housing division is responsible 
for delivering housing objectives based on the borough’s corporate strategy and 
delivered through the borough’s housing strategy. 

4.3. The Council is responsible for a stock of approximately 18,000 homes. These are 
managed by the Council’s Arm’s Length Management Organisation, Lewisham Homes 
and the Brockley Private Finance Initiative. In previous years, the Committee has 
scrutinised the Lewisham Homes and Brockley PFI annual reports and business plans. 
Members of the Committee have also resolved to receive regular updates from these 
organisations. The Committee’s terms of reference also give it the remit to establish 
links with social housing providers in the borough. 

5. Financial implications  

5.1. There are no direct financial implications arising from the implementation of the 
recommendations in this report. Items on the Committee’s work programme will have 
financial implications and these will need to be considered as part of the reports on 
those items 

6. Legal implications 

6.1. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

7. Equalities implications 

7.1. Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 
Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing the 
separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came into 
force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 

Page 64

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

7.2. The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

7.3. There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and all 
activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration to 
this. 

8. Climate change and environmental implications 

8.1. There are no direct climate change or environmental implications arising from the 
implementation of the recommendations in this report. Items on the Committee’s work 
programme may have climate change implications and these will need to be 
considered as part of the reports on those items. 

9. Crime and disorder implications 

9.1. There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from the implementation of 
the recommendations in this report. Items on the Committee’s work programme may 
have crime and disorder implications and these will need to be considered as part of 
the reports on those items. 

10. Health and wellbeing implications  

10.1. There are no direct health and wellbeing implications arising from the implementation 
of the recommendations in this report. Items on the Committee’s work programme may 
have health and wellbeing implications and these will need to be considered as part of 
the reports on those items. 

11. Report author and contact 

11.1. If you have any questions about this report please contact: John Bardens, 020 8314 
9976 john.bardens@lewisham.gov.uk.   

Page 65

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:john.bardens@lewisham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Housing Select Committee work programme 2019/20

Work item Type of item Priority Delivery 01-May 04-Jun 10-Jul 18-Sep 30-Oct 16-Dec 30-Jan 12-Mar

Budget cuts proposals Standard item High Ongoing

Confirmation of Chair and Vice 

Chair
Constitutional req High Apr

Work programme 2019-20 Constitutional req High Apr

Lewisham Homes annual business 

plan
Standard item High Apr

New Homes Programme update Information item High Apr

Resident engagement in housing 

development
In-depth review High Dec Scope

Lewisham Homes Acquisitions 

Programme

Performance 

monitoring
High Jun

Lewisham Homes annual report
Performance 

monitoring
High Jun

Brockley PFI annual report and 

business plan

Performance 

monitoring
High Jun

New Homes Programme update Standard item High Jul

Private rented sector licensing: 

consultation update
Standard item High Jul

Effects of housing people out of the 

borough

Performance 

monitoring
High Sep

Independent review of the Syrian 

Refugee Programme 
Standard item High Sep

Response to the borough-wide 

licensing consultation
Policy development High Sep

No Recourse to Public Funds 

(NRPF) review

Performance 

monitoring
High Sep

Lewisham Housing Strategy Policy development High Dec

Housing and mental health review 

update

Performance 

monitoring
High Dec

Overcrowding Standard item High Jan

Rent and service charge increases Standard item High Jan

Lewisham Homes business plan
Performance 

monitoring
High Mar

Homelessness Reduction Act 

progress update

Performance 

monitoring
High Mar

Annual lettings plan Standard item High Mar

Item completed

Item on-going 1) 5)

Item outstanding 2) 6)

Proposed timeframe 3) 7)

Item added 4) 8)Wed 18th Sept 2019 Thu 12th Mar 2020

Meetings

Wed 1st May 2019 Wed 30th Oct 2019

Tue 4th June 2019 Mon 16th Dec 2019

Wed 10th July 2019 Thu 30th Jan 2020P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan March 2020 - June 2020 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent toKevin Flaherty 0208 3149327, the Local Democracy Officer, 
at the Council Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 
 

P
age 69



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of Social Care 
software systems 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of revenue and 
benefits software systems 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

NHS Commissioning 
Arrangements in Lewisham 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Deputy Mayor and 
Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Budget Update 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Highway Contract Tendering 
strategy for 2021 award 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 

 
  

 P
age 70



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Safer Communities 
 

October 2019 
 

State of the Highways 
Infrasructure and Update on 
Asset Management Strategy 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Safer Communities 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Community Wealth Building 
and Inclusive Growth Strategy 
Update 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Joe Dromey, 
Cabinet Member for 
Culture, Jobs and Skills 
(job share) 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Community Energy Fund grant 
awards 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Jonathan Slater, Cabinet 
Member for Community 
Sector 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Lewisham's Admission 
Arrangements 2021/22 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

P
age 71



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

October 2019 
 

Budget 2020-21 
 

26/02/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Priorities for 2020 
 

26/02/20 
Council 
 

Kim Wright, Chief 
Executive and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Local Government Boundary 
Review 2nd Stage Submission 
 

26/02/20 
Council 
 

Kath Nicholson, Director 
of Law and Councillor 
Kevin Bonavia, Cabinet 
Member for Democracy, 
Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

November 2019 
 

Approach to Boroughwide pot 
of Neighbourhood Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Safer Communities 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Future Provision of Home Care 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Call-in Disposal of former Wide 
Horizon Sites in Wales & Kent' 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 

 
  

 

P
age 72



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Mayor 
 

October 2019 
 

Precision Manufactured 
Housing (PMH) Procurement 
Process Outcome and Decision 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Preferred Tender for Travel and 
Transport Programme 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Safer Communities 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Old Town Hall works - 
permission to tender 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Lewisham Climate Emergency 
Action Plan 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Private Sector Housing 
Borough-wide Licensing 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 

 
  

 

P
age 73



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

January 2020 
 

Oracle Cloud contract 
extension and hyper-care 
support 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of Oracle Licensing 
arrangements 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Archive solution for HR and 
Payroll system 
 

17/03/20 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Corporate Energy Contract 
Strategy 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 Post consultation 11/03/20 Kevin Sheehan,   

P
age 74



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 recommendation of additions 
of new buildings to Local List 
 

Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

  

December 2019 
 

Approval of the draft Lewisham 
Local Plan for public 
consultation 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Performance Monitoring 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Building for Lewisham Former 
St Philip Neri School 
Acquisition 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Appropiation of the former 
Mayow Road Warehouse 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Permission to Tender 
Broadway Theatre Works 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 

 
  

 P
age 75



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

  Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Andre Bourne, 
Cabinet member for 
Culture, Jobs and Skills 
(job share) 
 

February 2020 
 

GLA Small Sites Small Builders 
Grant 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

TenEmBee Sports Club lease 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Andre Bourne, 
Cabinet member for 
Culture, Jobs and Skills 
(job share) 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Acquisition of Morton House 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Making of Instrument of 
Government Aspire London 
Federation and Local Authority 
Governor Nomination 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Pauline Maddison, 
Interim Executive Director 
Children and Young 
People and Councillor 
Chris Barnham, Cabinet 

 
  

 

P
age 76



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

February 2020 
 

School Meals Contract 
Extension 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Pauline Maddison, 
Interim Executive Director 
Children and Young 
People and Councillor 
Chris Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Supported Housing Contract 
Extensions 2020 
 

17/03/20 
Executive Director 
for Community 
Services 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Contract Award Interpreting, 
Translation and Transcription 
Services 
 

17/03/20 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Adoption of Deptford High 
Street Conservation Area 
Appraisal, boundary changes 
and introduction of an Article 4 
Direction errata 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Settlement on outstanding 
litigation case regarding non-
payment of an affordable 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 

 
  

 

P
age 77



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

housing contribution at 99 
Plough Way Parts 1 & 2 
 

Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

February 2020 
 

SELCHP Extension parts 1 & 2 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Contract Award for Stage 2 of 
Greenvale School Expansion 
Project 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

January 2020 
 

Parks and Open Spaces 
Strategy 2020-2025 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Public Health Neighbourhood 
Grants - Neighbourhood 
Community Development 
Partnerships 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 
  

 

P
age 78



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

January 2020 
 

Annual Lettings Plan 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

PLACE/Ladywell parts 1 & 2 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Contract extension of  current 
day services for older adults 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Education Strategy 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Pauline Maddison, 
Interim Executive Director 
Children and Young 
People and Councillor 
Chris Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

SEND Strategy 2020-2023 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 

Pauline Maddison, 
Interim Executive Director 

 
  

 P
age 79



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Children and Young 
People and Councillor 
Chris Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

February 2020 
 

Smarter Technology Phase 2 
Project Equipment Rollout 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Richard Hawkes and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Renewal of Pension 
Administration IT System 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Ian Andrews, IT 
Procurement and 
Supplier Manager and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Single Equality framework 
2020-24 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Paul Aladenika, Service 
Group Manager, Policy 
Development and 
Analytical Insight and 
Councillor Jonathan 
Slater, Cabinet Member 
for Community Sector 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Award of M&E Contract 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Chris Damri, SGM Asset 
Strategy and Technical 
Support and Councillor 
Amanda De Ryk, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

P
age 80



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

February 2020 
 

Award of Building Fabric 
Contract 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Chris Damri, SGM Asset 
Strategy and Technical 
Support and Councillor 
Amanda De Ryk, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Award of London Borough of 
Culture Programme Delivery 
Partner 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Liz Dart, Head of Culture 
and Community 
Development and 
Councillor Andre Bourne, 
Cabinet member for 
Culture, Jobs and Skills 
(job share) 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Rough Sleeping Initiative STA 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sarah Miran, 
Commissioning Manager 
and Councillor Chris 
Best, Deputy Mayor and 
Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Future of Targeted Provision' 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David McCollum, Joint 
Commissioner – Early 
Intervention and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

December 2019 
 

Friendship Agreement Pokhara 
 

01/04/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 

 
  

 

P
age 81



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Accountability 
 

December 2019 
 

Approval of the draft Lewisham 
Local Plan for public 
consultation 
 

01/04/20 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Annual Pay Statement 
 

01/04/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

November 2019 
 

Approval to appoint operator 
for concessions contract at the 
lake, Beckenham Place Park 
 

29/04/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

November 2019 
 

Corporate Equalities Scheme 
 

29/04/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Jonathan 
Slater, Cabinet Member 
for Community Sector 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Occupational Health 
Procurement 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 
  

 

P
age 82



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

December 2019 
 

Local Plan New Cross Gate 
SPD and Surrey Canal SPD 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Mayow Road Supported Living 
Service Parts 1 & 2 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Approval to proceed with 
Procurement - Digitisation of 
Records - Council Wide 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Dry recycling award report 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Wendy Nicholas, 
Strategic Waste and 
Environment Manager 
and Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

SELCHP Extension parts 1 & 2 
 

06/05/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Wendy Nicholas, 
Strategic Waste and 
Environment Manager 
and Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 

 
  

 

P
age 83



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

and Transport 
 

December 2019 
 

Achilles Street Estate Land 
Assembly Parts 1 & 2 
 

03/06/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Adoption of the Catford 
Regeneration Masterplan 
Framework 
 

03/06/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

February 2020 
 

Revised Statement of 
Licensing Policy 
 

15/07/20 
Council 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Eva Stamirowski 
 

 
  

 

P
age 84



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

      

      

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Housing Select Committee work programme 2020/21 - draft priority themes

Item Type Priority Delivery 02-Jun 15-Sep 19-Nov 28-Jan 09-Mar

Budget cuts proposals Standard item High Sep

Confirmation of Chair and Vice Chair Constitutional req High Jun

Work programme 2019-20 Constitutional req High Jun

No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) Standard item High Jun

Overcrowding Standard item High Sep

Private rented sector Standard item High Sep

New Homes update Standard item High Nov

Resident Engagement Standard item High Nov

Lewisham Homes/RB3
Performance 

monitoring
High Jan

Fire safety/Repairs&Maintenance/ASB
Performance 

monitoring
High Jan

Homelessness
Performance 

monitoring
High Mar

Allocations/lettings Standard item High Mar

Item completed

Item on-going

Proposed timeframe 

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2020
	2 Declarations of interest
	4 Lewisham Homes Annual Business Plan 2020/21
	04 Appendix, Annual Business Plan - 120320

	5 Annual Lettings Plan 2020/21
	6 Homelessness in Lewisham and the impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
	7 Select Committee work programme
	07 Appendix A - completed work programme for 2019-20
	07 Appendix B - key decision plan
	07 Appendix C - draft work programme for 2020-21


